
'TO: The Commission 

FROM: Lawrence M. Nobie 
Genera! Counsei 

BY: Lois G. Lernei- 
Associate Gen 

Closed MUR 4834- Howard Glicken SUBdECT: 

Howard Glicken was the sole respondent in  fvlUR 4834, which was dosed by the 
Commission on December 1 1, 1998. The matter was referred to the Commission in 
September 41998 by the Department of Justice after a criminal investigation was 
conducted, and a plea agreement was entered into by Mr. Glicken. Under the terms of 
the plea agreement, Mr. Glicken plead guilty to violating 2 U.S.C. $5 441f and 441e, 
was required to pay an $80,000 crimina! fine' and petarm 560 hours of cammunity 
service, and agreed to enter into a canciiiation agreement with the Commission and pay 
a $4O,OoQ civil penalty. 

On December '1 1, 1398, the Commission accepted a conciliation agreement with 
Mr. Glicken. Under the terms of the conciliation agreenient, Mr. GIicken admitted that 
he  knowingly and willfully violated 2 U.S.C. Ss44'le and 44l f  with respect to a $20,000 
contribution made by a Foreign national 20 the Demmratic Senatorial Campaign 

' Mr. Glicken's criminal fine was payahle in b o  installments of $40,000 each. m e  due by November 1999 
and the oilier due by May 2000. The plea agreement slated that "should the defendant have the ability to 
pay ?he fine earlier, he is required to do so." Mr. Glicken borrowed $35,000 from his cousin to pay the 
first installment on his criminal line. DOJ has informed this Office that the criminal fine has now been paid 
in fuii. 
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Committee, and agreed to pay a $40,000 civil penalty to the Commission. A paymen! 
of $2,500 was received time!y, and the remaining balance of $37,500 was due no later 
than May 31, 2000. After Mr. Glicken failed to make the find payment, this Office 
c:mtacted his counsel. Mr. Giicken's counse[ stzted that his client did not have the 
financia! resources with which to pay the penairy 

Counse! stated that Mr. Glicken's financial situation was 
presentsd lo the Commission in a separate matter, 

" Mr. 
Glicken's counse! is expected to submit a written response, most likely requesting a 
modification of the civil per?alty in MUR 4834, but has not done so as of this writing. 

. .  

Insofar as Mr. Glicken agreed to pay a $4ti,OOC civi( penaity pursuant to his plea 
agreement, this Office recommends that the Gotnriikjsion approve the attached letter to 
the United States Department of Justice. 'The letter notifies 2118 Deparinent of Justice 
that i'dr. Glicken is delinquent in his payment, and inquires as to the course of action 
that will be undertaken by the Department as a result. 

1. Approve the attached letter to the Department of Justice. 

Attachment 
Letter to DOJ 
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